1982

# The State of Utah v. Michael George Durant : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, MICHAEL GEORGE DURANT, appeals from the conviction and judgment of Aggravated Arson, a felony in the Second Degree, in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Peter F. Leary, presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant, MICHAEL GEORGE DURANT, was tried and convicted of Aggravated Arson, a Second Degree felony. Appellant was sentence to an indeterminate term not to exceed five years pursuant to §76-3-402 Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended) wherein the judge lowered the penalty to the next lower category and imposed sentence accordingly.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment rendered by the Court below and a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On December 1, 1980, at approximately 1:50 a.m. the house where the appellant and the owner resided was set on fire. The fire was allegedly caused by a liquid-pour accelerant (T. 5, L.16-18). Bullet holes were found in the kitchen walls. Bullet casings and fragments were also found (T. 7, L.21-25); 8, L.1-6). Appellant gave the police a statement later that morning, and also another one on June 5, 1981. In the first statement, appellant said he and Rose (the owner) had been out drinking earlier that evening of November 30, and that Rose's car broke down. They came home, then left to return to the car, then spent the entire evening with a friend in West Valley (T. 27, L.20-25; 28, L.1-2).

Miss Martin, the witness who lived next door, said that she saw appellant and Rose together in the house the night of November 30 when the shots were fired (T. 18, L.1-7). Then Rose left a few minutes before the fire started (T. 18, L.10-11; 24, L.2-5). After the fire started, Miss Martin said she saw appellant leaving the scene (T. 18, L.15-25). She said both appellant and Rose returned the next morning asking what had happened (T. 21, L.23-24).

After appellant was arrested on June 5, 1981, he gave a statement (STate's Exhibit 8-P), which differed from his prior one (T. 28, L.6-8). In that statement, appellant admitted that he started the fire but was acting under the directions of Rose, the owner.

Counsel made a motion to dismiss at the end of the State's case. The motion was based on the argument that defendant did not act "unlawfully" nor commit aggravated arson in setting the fire, using Christendon (infra) as authority. The motion was denied.

Appellant was found guilty of Aggravated Arson as charged. That crime normally carries a penalty of one to fifteen years, but at sentencing, Judge Leary decided to reduce the penalty in appellant's case to zero to five years. §76-3-402 Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), reads:

76-3-402. Conviction of lower category of offense.--(1) If the court, having regard to the nature and circumstances of the offense of which the defendant was found guilty and to the history and character of the defendant, concludes that it would be unduly harsh to record the conviction as being for that category of offense established by statute and to sentence the defendant to an alternative normally applicable to that offense, the court may enter a judgment of conviction for the next lower category of offense and impose sentence accordingly.

In his judgment, Judge Leary recorded the conviction as "Aggravated Arson, a Third Degree felony," meaning he decided the charge was appropriate, but that the normal penalty would be unduly harsh. He sentenced appellant according to the next lower



category resulting in appellant's zero to five years sentence.

This sentencing procedure does not affect the substance of appellant's argument wherein it is contended that he should not have been found guilty of Aggravated Arson initially.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

APPELLANT SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN CONVICTED OF THE CRIME OF AGGRAVATED ARSON SINCE HE DID NOT "UNLAWFULLY" BURN A HATITABLE STRUCTURE.

The following statutes are relevant to a determination of the appellant's criminal culpability in this case:

76-6-104. Reckless burning.--(1) A person is guilty of reckless burning if he:

(a) Recklessly starts a fire or causes an explosion which endangers human life; or

(b) Having started a fire, whether recklessly or not, and knowing that it is spreading and will endanger the life or property of another, either fails to take reasonable measures to put out or control the fire or fails to give a prompt fire alarm; or

(c) Damages the property of another by reckless use of fire or causing an explosion.

76-6-102. Arson.--(1) A person is guilty of arson, if under circumstances not amounting to aggravated arson, by means of fire or explosives, he unlawfully and intentionally damages:

(a) Any property with intention of defrauding an insurer; or

(b) The property of another.

76-6-102. Aggravated arson.--[(1)] A person is guilty of aggravated arson if by means of

fire or explosives he intentionally and unlawfully damages:

(a) A habitable structure; or

(b) Any structure or vehicle when any person not a participant in the offense is in the structure or vehicle.

(Utah Code Ann. 1953 as amended)

Appellant asserts that while his conduct may be proscribed by the provisions of §76-6-104 and §76-6-102, it does not fall within the provisions of §76-6-103, and he is therefore not guilty of aggravated arson.

A traditional principle of law is that it is not "unlawful" for an owner to destroy his own property by burning it. See 17 ALR 1168. At common law, an owner had autonomy over his own property and could dispose of it, or destroy it, as he so desired. This principle remains in tact, except insofar as the legislature has modified it. The legislature has created three distinct offenses which proscribe the act of burning and destroying property.

One of these offenses, "reckless burning," conspicuously omits the word "unlawful," and seeks to punish even those who choose to destroy their own property. The "reckless burning" statute is offended if one recklessly starts a fire which endangers human life, or endangers or damages the property of another. The obvious intent of the legislature is to protect the person and property of others that may be nearby the fire, regardless of any justification that may exist for the burning itself.

Thus, even though an individual burns down his own property in an exercise of autonomy, he is guilty of reckless burning if there is a danger of the fire spreading to adjoining property or harming people nearby. Appellant's conduct, even though he was acting at the direction of the owner of the property, and thus burning "his own" property, is clearly sanctioned by the "reckless burning" statute.

The "arson" statute, on the other hand, clearly incorporates the common law notion by using the word "unlawful". The legislature has specifically defined the unlawful conduct; a person may not burn any property with the intent of defrauding an insurer, nor may an individual burn the property of another, under circumstances not amounting to aggravated arson. In this case, Rose could be found guilty of arson if it is shown that his intent in procuring appellant to burn the property was to defraud an insurer. (References to that effect are found in Plaintiff's Exhibit 8-P) Appellant, of course, would also commit the fraud if he knew the owner's intent. He could not, however, be convicted under subsection (b) (destroying the property of another) where he had permission from the owner.

The "aggravated arson" statute also incorporates the word "unlawful" in its language. Aggravated arson is "arson" plus two specifically defined aggravations. Under subsection (a) if an individual commits "arson" (burns any property to defraud an insurer, or burns the property of another), and that property is habitable, the offense becomes aggravated.

The common law notion that an individual may destroy his own property, as long as he doesn't endanger

victims, remains intact. Under subsection (b), however, the legislature creates an aggravation that occurs when any property is damaged. The common law notion is thus modified where a victim is inside the structure.

The policy behind the aggravated arson statute is not abrogated by incorporating the interpretation of "unlawful" into its provisions as that word is illuminated by the arson statute. Under subsection (a), the aggravated arson statute addresses itself to other people's habitable structures, like hotels, warehouses, offices, and homes.

On the other hand, under subsection (b) a person can be guilty of the offense if he or she damages by fire or explosives any structure or vehicle when a person is inside. Thus, where an individual may be harmed within the structure, ownership of the structure is irrelevant. The statute is obviously worded and sensibly interpreted to apply to another's property under subsection (a) and any property under subsection (b).

Appellant, therefore, cannot be guilty of aggravated arson. The circumstances surrounding the incident indicate complicity between appellant, the actor, and Rose, the owner. Appellant was procured by Rose, the owner, to burn the house. The relationship is one of agent/principal or principal and accomplice. The focus must necessarily shift to the owner because the agent cannot be any more responsible than the principal, where the agent is merely following the principal's directives.

A case directly on point and supportive of appellant's position is State v. Christendon, 468 P.2d 153 (Kansas 1970). In that case, the defendant applied the torch to the owner's property (a hotel) at the owner's request. The owner had procured the defendant to do the deed. There, the owner was found guilty of "insurance arson" a third degree felony, but could not be found guilty of first degree arson of the building. The court said a necessary element of first degree arson (comparable to Utah's 76-6-103) is that "the building burned be the property of another person", id at 155. The cases dealing with the owner's culpability were State v. Parrish, 468 P.2d 143 (Kansas 1970), and State v. Parrish, 468 P.2d 150 (Kansas 1970).

In Christendon, the defendant could not be found guilty of first degree arson and his conviction on that charge was reversed. The court explained that the defendant "could not be guilty of a more serious crime than the owner who hired him," 468 P.2d at 154. The Parrish cases established that the owner intended to defraud or injure an insurer. The evidence showed that the defendant expected renumeration for his deed.

The Christendon court referred to the annotation in 54 A.L.R. p. 1236 which commented on State v. Craig, 259 P.2d 802 (Kansas 1927). The court said that:

. . . in a number of other cases, the courts have discussed the criminal liability of one who burns a building with the sanction of the owner at the times of the burning, and have held that such a person is not guilty of arson, since, at common law and under most statutes, one cannot be criminally liable for burning his own building, and an agent cannot be more liable than his principal would be if he did the act. [citing cases]

As to the culpability of the agent, the court referred to 5 Am. Jur. 2d, Arson and Related Offenses, §23, p. 818:

If the owner in possession is not guilty of arson in burning his own property, then one who assists the owner in burning it or who burns it at the owner's request is not guilty of arson, for the agent's guilt can only be coextensive with that of the principal.

In holding the agent's guilt to be coextensive with the owner's, the Ohio Supreme Court in Haas v. State, 132 N.E. 158 (1921) said:

It is but the application of ordinary logic to say that if the aider and abettor is guilty of the same crime as the principal, and may be prosecuted as a principal, that the principal is guilty of the same crime as the aider and abettor; that in law the action of the one is treated as the action of both, and that the actions of both are no different than though the separate acts of each were performed by one person. \* \* \* (132 N.E. at 159)

The Christendon Court summed up its position by stating that under statutes similar to its first degree arson statute, the cases were quite uniform in holding that an agent who burns the owner's building at the request of the owner cannot be held guilty of burning the property of another. It cited these cases: [Haas v. State, supra; Commonwealth v. Makely, 131 Mass. 421 (1881); State v. Haynes, 66 Me. 307 (1876); Roberts v. The Sate, 7 Cold. (42 Tenn) 359 (1870); Heard v. State, 81 Ala. 55, 1 So. 640 (1887); Dedieu v. The People, 22 N.Y. [Appeals] 178 (1860); State v. Sarvis, 45 S.C. 668, 24 S.E. 53 (1896); State v. Greer, 243 Mo. 599, 147 S.W. 968 (1912)]. See also Wharton's Criminal Law and Procedure [Anderson] Vol. II, Arson §405, p.20. The court went on to say that:

Although the relationship of principal and agent is not technically applicable to criminal law, yet responsibility for burning property generally depends upon the intent or mens rea of the owner who procures the burning. If the owner desires to rid himself of a building by burning and can limit the fire to his own building he may do so. Without a willful or malicious intent he commits no crime. An owner can hire someone to do to his property what he himself may do. The person hired to burn the property of the owner commits no greater crime than the owner.

The reasoning which limits the guilt of the agent arises out of the law of principals and accessories. The person who applies the torch to the property is the principal. The person who procures, counsels and aids the principal to burn the property is the accessory. In theory the accessory (owner) is regarded as constructively present, giving aid, counsel and encouragement to successfully accomplish the common purpose. The separate acts of the accessory (the owner) and of the principal (the torch) unite in one purpose. (See Perkins on Criminal Law [University Textbook Series], Parties to Crime, p. 572). The purpose in this case, which makes the burning criminal in nature is the owner's intent to defraud the insurer by burning the property. If the defendant knew he was assisting the owner in defrauding the insurer when he set fire to the owner's property he too was guilty of accomplishing the crime proscribed by Kansas' Third Degree Arson Statute. But in any event the purpose accomplished by both accessory and principal remains the same. The purpose was not to burn the property of another person.

Thus, the reasoning of the controlling authorities support appellant's position that his actions as "the torch" can be no more culpable than those of Rose, the owner. Here, the evidence shows that appellant acted at the request of and under the direction of Rose.

The neighbor testified that Rose and appellant were both in the house when the shots were fired at about 12:30 a.m. on December 1. (T. 18, L.1-8). The neighbor also said

Rose left the house just before it was set ablaze (T. 18, L.10-11). If the fire started at 1:50 a.m. as testified to, then Rose remained inside for more than one hour after the shots. Soon after Rose left, the fire started and appellant was seen leaving the area (T. 18, L.15-25). Later that morning, both Rose and appellant returned to the scene.

In his June 5 statement, appellant said that Rose would pay him \$1,000 if he would participate in setting the house on fire. In preparing to set the fire, appellant said Rose first secured his personal papers, titles etc., and his gun, and then told appellant where (what area of the house) to dump the laquer thinner. After this was done, Rose left in the car and appellant immediately started the fire as per Rose's instructions. He then ran out to meet Rose who was waiting for him in front of a shack a short distance away from the burning house. Then they both "took off" in the car. Appellant explained "how Rose set up their alibi with Fred Butler in West Valley." He also stated that he was never paid for helping Rose burn his house down.