1982

# The State of Utah v. Michael George Durant : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, Michael George Durant, appeals from the conviction and judgment of Aggravated Arson, a felony in the second degree, in violation of Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-103 (1953), as amended.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant was tried and convicted in a bench trial of Aggravated Arson, a felony in the second degree, in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Peter F. Leary, Judge, presiding. The appellant was sentenced to an indeterminate term not to exceed five years, the judge having lowered the penalty to the next lowest category, pursuant to Utah Code Ann., § 76-3-402 (1953), as amended.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The respondent seeks an order of this Court affirming the verdict and findings of the trial court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent essentially adopts the facts as presented by the appellant with one exception. The appellant alludes to the "appellant and the owner" residing in the house which was burned. While testimony found on page 19 of the trial transcript (page 48 of the record of this case) indicates that Carl Rose "had the lease" or "rental" to the house, such indicates that he was a tenant in the house and did not own the property.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE APPELLANT'S CONVICTION OF AGGRAVATED ARSON WAS PROPER.

The statute under which the appellant was convicted, Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-103 (1953), as amended, provides:

- (1) A person is guilty of aggravated arson if by means of fire or explosives he intentionally and unlawfully damages:
  - (a) A habitable structure; or
  - (b) Any structure or vehicle when any person not a participant in the offense is in the structure or vehicle.
- (2) Aggravated arson is a felony of the second degree.

Under the terms of the statute, the burning of any habitable structure or any structure or vehicle where another person is in that structure or vehicle is proscribed, regardless of the ownership of the structure or vehicle. It having been proved that the house burned in the instant case was a "habitable structure," the appellant and Carl Rose being residents thereof, and that the appellant burned the house, the appellant's conviction under the above statute was proper.

The appellant claims that in burning down the house, he was acting as an agent of Carl Rose, whom it is posited was the "owner" of the house. According to the appellant, an agent may not be guilty of a crime of which the principal could not have been found guilty. Here, the appellant states, since the principal, Carl Rose, as "owner" of the property, could not have been properly convicted of Aggravated Arson, neither could his agent, the appellant, be properly found guilty of the crime.

The appellant reaches the conclusion that the common law rule that a person may not be guilty of Arson by burning his own property extends to the statutory crime of Aggravated Arson through a creative twisting of the meaning of the word "unlawful" in both the Aggravated Arson statute, set out supra, and in the Arson statute, Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-102

(1953), as amended.<sup>1</sup> That statute provides, in pertinent part:

- (1) A person is guilty of arson if, under circumstances not amounting to aggravated arson, by means of fire or explosives, he unlawfully and intentionally damages:
  - (a) Any property with intention of defrauding an insurer; or
  - (b) The property of another.

The appellant asserts that since the term "unlawful" is not statutorily defined, it must be defined here in the terms of the other elements of the crime of arson. In other words, the "unlawful" conduct proscribed in the Arson statute must be either the burning of any property with the intention of insurance fraud or the burning of the property of another. Since there was no proof of insurance fraud in the instant case, the appellant posits that the definition of "unlawful" conduct under the Arson statute must, by default, be the burning of the property of another. Here, then, the appellant asserts that the definition of "unlawful" in the Arson statute must be "the burning of the property of another."

The appellant's argument is next dependent on incorporating the definition of "unlawful" reached under the

---

<sup>1</sup>Under Utah Code Ann., § 76-1-105 (1953), as amended, common law crimes are abolished. So, too, presumably, are common law defenses. Thus, in order to assert the defense that an owner of property cannot be guilty of arson by burning it, the defendant must assert a statutory defense to the statutory crime.



above analysis of the Arson statute into the Aggravated Arson statute, where "unlawful" damage is a necessary element of the crime. According to the appellant, if an "unlawful" act means "the burning of the property of another" (in the Arson statute), and the Aggravated Arson statute includes as an element the "unlawful" damage, by fire or explosives, of a habitable structure or an inhabited structure or vehicle, then by definition the burned habitable structure or inhabited structure or vehicle must be the property of someone other than the actor in order for the actor to be guilty of Aggravated Arson. Thus, since Carl Rose was purportedly the "owner" of the burned property and the appellant his "agent," the argument goes, neither can be found guilty of Aggravated Arson.

The appellant's theory is meritless for several reasons. First, the appellant's assertion that since the word "unlawful" is not statutorily defined, it must take its meaning from the other elements of the crime (of arson) is ludicrous. Taken to its logical conclusion, the appellant's argument would render the word "unlawful" useless surplusage in each statute in which it appears, an interpretation which stretches the imagination in light of the overwhelming number of statutes in which the requirement that the act be "unlawful" is enumerated as a separate element. It is illogical that the Legislature would, through use of the word

"unlawful," set forth a separate element of a crime that would essentially be identical to the other elements of the crime. Indeed, the word "unlawful" would take on a different meaning in each statute in which it is used. Such would be an unnecessary repetition of the statutory elements, would add nothing, and make no sense.

Clearly, the statutory meaning of the word "unlawful" must be drawn from some other source than the statute in which it appears. The logical rendering of the word's statutory meaning is "without justification," the word "justification" drawing its meaning from Part Four of Chapter Two of Title 76 of the Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended, which includes within its ambit numerous justifications which exclude criminal responsibility; the defense of persons or property, an actor's reasonable actions in fulfillment of governmental duties, reasonable discipline of minors by parents, guardians, teachers, or others in loco parentis, reasonable discipline of persons in lawful custody, and other justifications.<sup>2</sup> While respondent recognizes that this

---

<sup>2</sup>The requirement that the act committed be "unlawful" in order for it to be criminal is found in the statutes outlawing Mayhem, Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-105 (1953), as amended; Criminal Homicide, Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-201 (1953), as amended; Criminal Mischief, Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-106(2) (1953), as amended; and Robbery, Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-301 (1953), as amended, without any statutory definition of the word "unlawful." Part Two of Section Six, Chapter 76, which deals with Burglary, Burglary of a Vehicle, and Criminal Trespass, a necessary element of each of which

definition, too, renders use of the word "unlawful" surplusage to a degree, such a definition is logical in light of its use throughout the criminal code. In any case, as unfortunate as it is that the Legislature has not provided a statutory definition of the word "unlawful," the respondent submits that the inferences drawn by the appellant from the absence of a definition are erroneous.

Even assuming that the appellant's logic that definition of the word "unlawful" can be drawn by reference to the statute in which the word appears is correct,

---

is either "unlawfully" remaining or entering on property, gives the following definition:

(3) A person "enters or remains unlawfully" in or upon premises when the premises or any portion thereof at the time of the entry or remaining are not open to the public and when the actor is not otherwise licensed or privileged to enter or remain on the premises or such portion thereof (Emphasis added).

Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-201(3). Significantly, while kidnapping does not require that the act be "unlawful," Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-301(1) requires as an element that the act be "without authority of law." Custodial Interference, which also does not require "unlawful" conduct, does require, in Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-303(1), that the act be "without good cause." The crime of Rape, which also does not require an "unlawful" act, requires that the act be without the victim's consent. See Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-402 (1) (1953), as amended. Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-102(a) (1953), as amended, defines an assault as "an attempt, with unlawful force or violence, to do bodily injury to another." From this definition it may be implied that lawful, or justified force may be used to do bodily injury to another. Reference to Utah Code Ann., § 76-2-401, et seq., explains the circumstances under which such force is justified, or "lawful." Thus, read in light of the other statutes referred to above, the logic of the respondent's interpretation is further shown.

the appellant's assertion that the elements of the crime of Arson should be incorporated into the requirements of Aggravated Arson does not logically follow. Indeed, if the appellant's position is adopted, the definition of the word "unlawful" in the Aggravated Arson statute can be drawn from reference to the elements of that crime as set out in that statute. Reference to any other statute, including the Arson statute, would be unnecessary. In fact, it would make no more sense to adopt the definition of "unlawful" as used in the Arson statute to define the same word in the Aggravated Arson statute than it would to adopt a different definition of the word as it would be used in any of the other statutes in which it is found.

The appellant's tenuous argument that adoption of the defense that an owner cannot be convicted of Aggravated Arson by torching his own property must be "incorporated" as a defense to Aggravated Arson through his interpretation of the word "unlawful" falls of its own weight. The simple fact that the Legislature set out separate elements for each crime inveighs heavily against such an assertion. Had the Legislature intended the result propounded by the appellant, it would have spelled out specifically in the Aggravated Arson statute the requirement that for a defendant to be found guilty under its provisions, the property burned need be "that of another." It did not do so. The appellant's

"incorporation" theory, then, goes not only against common sense, but also is inconsistent with the notion that the Legislature spells out what it intends to enact in legislation it passes.

Whether the appellant is seen as an "owner" of the burned property,<sup>3</sup> or whether the "agency" shield from liability proposed by the appellant (neither theory of which was proved at trial) is seen as giving the appellant "owner" status, he would not be immune from prosecution or a finding of guilt under the Aggravated Arson statute. An owner of a habitable structure or any structure or vehicle in which any other person is present at the time of a fire may be guilty of Aggravated Arson if he causes the fire. Such is the clear intention of the Legislature. Such is the language of the Aggravated Arson statute.

The Kansas cases cited by the appellant, State v. Christendon, Kan., 468 P.2d 153 (1970); State v. Parrish, Kan., 468 P.2d 143 (1970); and State v. Parrish, Kan., 468 P.2d 150 (1970), are inapposite in this case. Although the Kansas Supreme Court applied the "agency" theory as set out by the appellant in his brief and held that the "agent" of an owner of burned property could not be held any more liable than the owner himself for the crime of first-degree Arson,

---

<sup>3</sup>The fact that the appellant resided in the burned structure could be seen as giving him a "possessory interest" in the house sufficient to be an "owner" of the property. See § 76-6-101(3), supra.

the court's finding that an owner of property could not be found guilty of that crime was based on a Kansas statute which specifically required as an element of the crime that the property burned be that of another person. The statute under which the defendant in that case was prosecuted, Kansas Statutes Ann., § 21-581, provided:

That any person who willfully sets fire to or burns or causes to be burned, or who aids, counsels or procures the burning of any dwelling house, whether occupied, unoccupied or vacant, or any kitchen, shop, barn, stable or other outhouse that is parcel thereof, or belonging to or adjoining thereto, such property being the property of another person, shall be guilty of arson in the first degree, and upon conviction shall be punished by confinement and hard labor for not less than two nor more than twenty years (Emphasis added).

As has been emphasized above, unlike the Kansas first-degree Arson statute, the Utah Aggravated Arson statute contains no ownership requirement for a finding of guilt. To the degree that the Kansas statute requires a finding of ownership of the burned property, both it and any cases decided under it are inapplicable in Utah.

#### CONCLUSION

The appellant concedes that the Utah Legislature has adopted a policy that burning any structure or vehicle when a person is inside will subject the actor who burns the structure or vehicle guilty of Aggravated Arson, regardless

of ownership of the property. See appellant's brief, page 7. His argument that that policy does not extend to the burning of "any habitable structure" if that habitable structure is owned by the actor is illogical and meritless. The Legislature's intent that an actor may be guilty of Aggravated Arson by burning his own habitable structure is plain from the words of the Aggravated Arson statute.

It was proved at trial that the appellant did in fact intentionally and unlawfully burn a habitable structure. This justifies the trial court's finding of guilt of Aggravated Arson. For that reason and the other reasons set out above, the trial court's finding should be affirmed by this Court.